FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/7/2023 4:12 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102630-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SIMONE SCOTT, Personal Representative on Behalf of the Estate of Shamarra Scott, an individual,

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF TACOMA, a municipal corporation; WADE and JANE DOE WHITE, a marital community,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Steven W. Fogg, WSBA No. 23528
Timothy A. Bradshaw, WSBA No. 17983
Blake Marks-Dias, WSBA No. 28169
Thomas J. Bone, WSBA No. 43965
Eric A. Lindberg, WSBA No. 43596
CORR CRONIN LLP
1015 Second Avenue, Floor 10
Seattle, WA 98104
Tel (206) 625-8600
Fax (206) 625-0900
Attorneys for Respondents

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The City of Tacoma (the "City") seeks review of Division II of the Washington Court of Appeals' ("Division II") opinion reversing the trial court's order granting the City's Motion to Exclude the testimony of two of Appellee Simone Scott's experts and its related grant of summary judgment in favor of the City.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division II filed its opinion on November 7, 2023. The opinion is attached in the Appendix to this Petition.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether Division II's holding that *Frye*¹ does not apply to Dr. Steven Overman's expert testimony regarding Shamarra Scott's injuries and death, even though there is no evidence in the record of any (let alone general) acceptance in the relevant scientific community for his speculative theory that physical trauma in one area of the body can activate sarcoidosis

¹ Frye v. United States, 54 App. D.C. 46, 293 F. 1013 (1923).

in an area unaffected by trauma, conflicts with opinions of this Court and published opinions of the Court of Appeals? Likewise, whether Division II's holding that Dr. Overman's opinions should have been admitted under ER 702 conflicts with opinions of this Court and published opinions of the Court of Appeals?

- 2. Whether Division II's decision to not affirm summary judgment on legal causation grounds conflicts with opinions of this Court and published opinions of the Court of Appeals where the connection between Shamarra Scott's motor vehicle accident and her death five years later based on a rare disorder is too attenuated or insubstantial to impose liability on the City?
- 3. Whether Division II's improper application of *Frye* and lack of any analysis as to legal causation present issues of substantial public interest?
- 4. Whether to vacate Division II's decision and remand to the trial court the issue of the applicability of ER 702

to Dr. Overman's speculative and unhelpful opinions for additional fact-finding?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

In 2015, Shamarra Scott ("Ms. Scott") was involved in a car accident in North Tacoma with Tacoma Police Officer Wade White ("Officer White"). Clerk's Papers ("CP") at 2.2 Ms. Scott declined medical treatment at the scene. CP 127. Later that day, she went to the hospital and was diagnosed with soft-tissue injuries, which were successfully treated with physical therapy and visits to a chiropractor. CP 127, 478. The medical records from Ms. Scott's hospital visit that day state that she "did not hit her head or lose consciousness" and that she denied "hitting

² The City incorporates herein the factual background set forth in its Respondents' Brief and recites only the most salient facts below.

head." CP 122, 139. There is no evidence in the record that she suffered any injury or trauma to her eyes.

Over three years after the accident, on December 1, 2018, Ms. Scott was hospitalized at St. Joseph's Medical Center with severe back pain and eventually diagnosed with multiple compression fractures. CP 242–55. She had suffered no physical trauma immediately before the hospitalization. CP 243. Ms. Scott's treating physicians noted that the "etiology of the fractures is not particularly clear;" ultimately, the cause of the fractures remained unknown. CP 248, 482.

On December 5, 2018, Ms. Scott began to have spasms and shaking of unknown origin. CP 251. Nothing was done to determine the cause, and without knowing the cause of her fractures or spasms, Ms. Scott's treating physicians performed a major spinal surgery on her. CP 251. Ms. Scott came out of the surgery and she appeared to be recovering before she developed numerous and serious complications that left her paralyzed and unable to speak. CP 251–55.

On January 12, Ms. Scott was transferred to UW Harborview because her treating physicians at St. Joseph's were unable to identify the etiology of her complications. CP 255. While at Harborview, multiple notes indicate that Ms. Scott did not have active sarcoidosis, and that her symptoms "have broad differential diagnoses including paraprotenemia and CNS viral infection which may necessitate additional workup." CP 258, 259, 262. Indeed, medical records from Harborview indicate that Ms. Scott's complications had an "unclear inciting event or etiology." CP 261.

Ms. Scott was transferred from Harborview to CHI Regional Hospital in February 2019, and to a long term care facility in March 2019. Medical records show that Ms. Scott's family members voiced concern on multiple occasions with the level of care Ms. Scott received at the facility. CP 266. Ms. Scott was transferred between the facility and the hospital on multiple occasions over the ensuing months due to infections that she developed. CP 437. She passed away in February 2020. The

cause of death on her death certificate is listed as Guillain-Barre syndrome. CP 268.

B. Procedural History

Simone Scott, as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Shamarra Scott ("the Estate") now claims in this lawsuit that the City's negligence in the 2015 car accident proximately caused a sequence of increasingly serious and unexplained medical maladies: (1) the accident caused "activation" of a dormant underlying condition known as sarcoidosis, (2) which caused issues with Ms. Scott's eyes (uveitis), (3) which led to prescriptions for steroids over a long period of time to treat vision problems, (4) allegedly leading to Ms. Scott developing an unconfirmed osteoporosis diagnosis, (5) which caused unexplained spontaneous spinal fractures in December 2018, (6) which led to spinal surgery a few days later, (7) which resulted in a rare allergic type reaction and numerous complications and eventual death caused by Guillain Barre Syndrome.

The Estate's theory on the first "link" of the causal chain

relies entirely on the testimony of Dr. Steven Overman, who initially opined that Ms. Scott's motor vehicle accident "activated" her sarcoidosis through physical and emotional trauma, setting into motion this chain of misfortune.³ The City moved to strike Dr. Overman's opinion under *Frye* and ER 702, arguing that his opinion that the accident caused a flare-up of Ms. Scott's sarcoidosis is not generally accepted (or accepted at all) in the medical community. CP 770–83. The City also moved for summary judgment based on the gaps in the link of causation following exclusion of Dr. Overman's testimony, and on grounds that Ms. Scott's death was too attenuated from the accident for purposes of legal cause. CP 77–93.

In response to the City's motion to strike, Dr. Overman

_

³ Division II correctly ruled that the Estate abandoned on appeal its argument that Dr. Overman's testimony regarding emotional trauma should not have been excluded. Appendix 6 n.15. In other words, it is undisputed that the trial court correctly ruled that Dr. Overman's testimony that the "emotional trauma" from the accident activated Ms. Scott's sarcoidosis should be excluded under Frye and ER 702.

submitted a declaration, attaching almost 300 pages of articles. CP 1334–1656. Not one article, however, supported Dr. Overman's novel theory. In his declaration, Dr. Overman implicitly conceded that there is no general acceptance for the theory that emotional and physical trauma activates sarcoidosis, as he instead asserted that aspects of other autoimmune conditions (like psoriasis) can be applied to sarcoidosis in order to boot-strap his prior theories. E.g., CP 1338–39. But none of the literature cited by Dr. Overman endorsed his theory that the causes and "activations" of sarcoidosis are the same as those of psoriasis or other autoimmune conditions. Dr. Overman's declaration also misleadingly suggested that Ms. Scott suffered head trauma, despite medical records to the contrary. Compare CP 1358 with CP 1679.

The trial court granted the City's motion to strike, ruling that Dr. Overman's opinions were not based upon generally accepted scientific theories under *Frye*. CP 1852–55. In pertinent part, the trial court excluded "Dr. Overman's ultimate opinions

as identified as the accident caused a flare-up of Ms. Scott's sarcoidosis and that she ultimately passed away because of a direct sequence of events from the accident." CP 1855; *see* CP 1720–22. The trial court did not rule on the ER 702 issue. CP 1721.

On summary judgment, the trial court denied the City's motion as to legal causation but granted summary judgment on the wrongful death claim based on proximate cause given the absence of general acceptance of Dr. Overman's testimony. CP 1870; *see* CP 1818–20.

The Estate appealed the trial court's grant of summary judgment to Division II. In an opinion issued on November 7, 2023, Division II reversed and held Dr. Overman's testimony was admissible under *Frye* and ER 702. Appendix 15–17. Division II further ruled that Dr. Overman's testimony presented a genuine issue of material fact, rejected the City's argument "that the causal chain is too remote and attenuated to impose

liability as a public policy matter," and reversed partial summary judgment. Appendix 18.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW IS MERITED

This Court may grant review of an opinion of the Court of Appeals reversing a grant of summary judgment when, as here, the requirements of RAP 13.4(b) are met. *Grp. Health Coop. v. Coon*, 193 Wn.2d 841, 849, 447 P.3d 139 (2019).

RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2) state that this Court will accept review of a decision by the Court of Appeals if the decision is in conflict with an opinion of this Court, or in conflict with a published opinion of the Court of Appeals. Division II's ruling admitting Dr. Overman's testimony conflicts with established precedents of both Courts, which require that the scientific theory or principle upon which an expert's evidence is based has gained general acceptance in the relevant scientific community, as there is no general acceptance of the theory that sarcoidosis can be triggered by remote physical trauma.

In addition, Division II's ruling departs from decisions of this Court and from published decisions of the Court of Appeals making clear that no legal cause exists when the ultimate result and the act of a defendant is too remote or insubstantial to impose liability. Here, the unprecedented remoteness in time and numerous intervening factors between Officer White and Ms. Scott's accident and her ultimate death renders her alleged wrongful death unforeseeable and nonactionable as a matter of law. Notably, Division II did not give any reason or cite to any authorities for its decision on this issue of legal cause – it simply indicated that it was "not persuaded."

Finally, RAP 13.4(b)(4) is satisfied here, as the continuing endurance of *Frye* itself has been called into question by Division II's Opinion. Under the rationale of Division II, an expert could make of any theory of causation, regardless of its acceptance in the field, based solely on the expert's experience in the field. This would render *Frye* meaningless. Accepting review would

allow this Court an opportunity to define the law regarding admission of expert testimony in Washington.

The City respectfully submits that RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) are met here, and thus, that review of Division II's decision is required.

- A. Division II's Gate-Opening Ruling that Dr. Overman's Novel Testimony is Admissible Without General Acceptance Conflicts with the Appellate and this Court's Precedents Regarding *Frye* and ER 702.
 - 1. <u>Washington law regarding admission of expert evidence.</u>

Expert medical testimony is **required** where the cause and nature of "[an] injury involves obscure medical factors which are beyond an ordinary lay person's knowledge, necessitating speculation in making a finding." *Riggins v. Bechtel Power Corp.*, 44 Wn. App. 244, 254, 722 P.2d 819 (1986). Medical testimony as to a causal relationship between the negligent act and the subsequent condition complained of must demonstrate that the injury "probably" or "more likely than not" caused the subsequent condition. *Fabrique v. Choice Hotels Intern., Inc.*,

144 Wn. App., 675, 687, 183 P.3d 1118 (2008) (internal quotation omitted). The expert medical testimony must also be based upon a reasonable degree of medical certainty according to the facts of the case, as opposed to unsupported speculation. *McLaughlin v. Cooke*, 112 Wn.2d 829, 836, 774 P.2d 1171 (1989); *Fabrique*, 144 Wn. App. at 687–88.

Once the defendant demonstrates "that the plaintiff lacks admissible expert testimony to support [her] case, the burden shifts to the plaintiff to present competent medical expert testimony establishing that the alleged injury was proximately caused by the defendant's actions." *Id.* at 685. If the plaintiff fails to come forward with the requisite expert medical testimony, summary judgment is appropriate. *Id.*; *Miller v. Likins*, 109 Wn. App. 140, 145, 34 P.3d 835 (2001).

For expert testimony regarding novel scientific evidence to be admissible, it first must satisfy the *Frye* standard and then must meet the other criteria in ER 702. *Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 909, 918, 296 P.3d 860 (2013); *Lake*

Chelan Shores Homeowners Ass'n v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins.
Co., 176 Wn. App. 168, 175, 313 P.3d 408 (2013).

Under *Frye*, expert testimony is admissible where

- (1) the scientific theory or principle upon which the evidence is based has gained general acceptance in the relevant scientific community of which it is a part; and
- (2) there are generally accepted methods of applying the theory or principle in a manner capable of producing reliable results.

Lake Chelan, 176 Wn. App. at 175. **Both** (1) the theory underlying the evidence **and** (2) the methodology used to implement the theory must be generally accepted in the scientific community for evidence to be admissible under *Frye*. *Id*. When applying *Frye*, courts do not determine if the scientific theory underlying the proposed testimony is correct; rather, courts must "look to see whether [the theory] has achieved general acceptance in the appropriate scientific community." *Id*. at 175–76 (internal quotation omitted). To perform a *Frye* analysis, courts consider four sources of information and the hallmarks of reliability: expert testimony; scientific writings that have been

subject to peer review and publication; secondary legal sources; and legal authority from other jurisdictions. *Id.* at 176. Just as the scientific community plays a crucial role, so too do the courts as gatekeepers of admissibility and junk science.

Evidence that is admissible under *Frye* must still pass the two-part test under ER 702: (1) the witness must be qualified as an expert; and (2) the expert's testimony must be helpful to the trier of fact. *State v. King County Dist. Court W. Div.*, 175 Wn. App. 630, 637, 307 P.3d 765 (2013). Evidence is not helpful if it misleads the jury and unreliable testimony does not assist the trier of fact. *See Lakey*, 176 Wn.2d at 918.

If the moving party shows that expert testimony on an essential element is inadmissible because the scientific theory or methodology is not generally accepted in the relevant scientific community, the burden shifts to the non-moving party to provide evidence demonstrating general acceptance. *See Lake Chelan*, 176 Wn. App. at 179. The degree of confidence to support the *Frye* "general acceptance" standard is significantly higher than

the civil "preponderance" standard. *Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc.*, 172 Wn.2d 593, 607–08, 260 P.3d 857 (2011).

2. <u>Division II ignored Frye</u> and the absence of any evidence of general scientific acceptance for Dr. Overman's novel theory regarding sarcoidosis and merely required "clinical experience."

In its Opinion, Division II repeatedly required mere clinical experience rather than general acceptance of his scientific theories. Indeed, nowhere in the Opinion does Division II acknowledge that *any* other expert has endorsed Dr. Overman's theory:

"As to his opinion that the collision caused a sarcoidosis flare, Dr. Overman testified that he relied on his extensive clinical experience. He explained that in his experience, trauma can cause inflammation in the body. He explained that sarcoidosis is an inflammatory disease and that uveitis is an inflammatory symptom, and this has not been disputed. To the extent he drew inferences about sarcoidosis from his experience with psoriasis patients, he explained how the diseases were similar and why it would be reasonable to draw such an inference. Nowhere does the City challenge Dr. Overman's clinical observations; rather, it has presented experts who disagree about Dr. Overman's causation opinions because the exact causal link has not been documented in the literature The City has not shown that Dr. Overman's opinion about the collision causing a sarcoidosis flare is based on novel science, so we do not apply *Frye* analysis to that opinion.

Appendix at 15–16 (emphasis added). Importantly, Division II erases Frye's requirement that an expert's scientific theory be generally accepted, and allows an expert's qualifications (including, for instance, their experience) to be the sole metric of whether their opinion should be admitted. This is not the law under Frye, and is not the law in Washington. Division II did not, for instance, conclude that Dr. Overman's testimony was supported by "expert testimony, scientific writings that have been subject to peer review and publication, secondary legal sources, [or] legal authority from other jurisdictions." Lake Chelan, 176 Wn. App. at 176 (internal quotation omitted). To the contrary, none of the articles relied on by Dr. Overman supported his conclusion.

Indeed, this Court has consistently declined invitations to adopt the *Daubert*⁴ test, which asks merely whether "the reasoning or methodology underlying the testimony is scientifically valid and can be applied to the facts at hand," in favor of the "more stringent *Frye* test." *Anderson*, 172 Wn.2d at 601–02 (citing *Reese v. Stroh*, 128 Wn.2d 300, 307, 907 P.2d 282 (1995)) (emphasis added). By requiring only Dr. Overman's experience and his professed use of a differential diagnosis method, Division II effectively applied the "*less* stringent" *Daubert* test.

The City does not contest that Dr. Overman lacks, in general, "practical experience and acquired knowledge" as a rheumatologist. *State v. Ortiz*, 119 Wn.2d 294, 311, 831 P.2d 1060 (1992). But Dr. Overman's opinion went far beyond "application of an accepted theory or methodology to a particular medical condition," under which conditions a court may properly

_

⁴ Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 588, 113 S. Ct. 2786, 125 L. Ed. 2d 469 (1993).

conclude that *Frye* is not implicated because an expert's opinion is not based on novel science. Reese, 128 Wn.2d at 307–08. Dr. Overman's practical experience as a rheumatologist cannot permit a court to conclude that science is not novel and decline to apply Frye, thus opening the gate to a flood of his novel opinions. As the court in *Lake Chelan* stated, "it makes little sense to conclude that an expert could avoid the application of Frye simply by eschewing the use of any particular methodology or technique and purporting to rely only on their knowledge and experience." 176 Wn. App. at 181 (emphasis added). In dodging the *Frye* inquiry and relying on experience, Division II's approach directly contradicts Lake Chelan. The Opinion also contradicts Anderson, where this Court held that *Frye* did not apply based on the expert's reliance on a scientific study—here, as Division II implicitly recognized, Dr. Overman cited no scientific studies supporting his novel theory. See Anderson, 172 Wn.2d at 611.

Simply put, no evidence in the record shows that Ms. Scott's eyes were impacted in the motor vehicle accident, including by an airbag; and no scientific literature supports Dr. Overman's novel theory that physical trauma can trigger sarcoidosis in areas unaffected by the trauma.

3. <u>Division II's Analysis of ER 702 is Superficial and Conclusory.</u>

Division II effectively ignored all of the serious challenges to the admissibility of Dr. Overman's testimony under ER 702. The City highlighted several reasons why Dr. Overman's opinions were not admissible under that rule. First, the fact that Dr. Overman is not an ophthalmologist, and thus is not qualified to rely on ophthalmology patient interactions. Second, the lack of treatment or monitoring of Ms. Scott's alleged sarcoidosis between 2012 and 2015, and the resulting speculation as to the cause of her uveitis. Third, the contradiction between Dr. Overman's theory that "remote Koebner" caused Ms. Scott's uveitis and his (since abandoned) theory that uveitis was caused by emotional stress. Fourth, the lack of record support for his

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