# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/21/2023 3:46 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102630-7

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SIMONE SCOTT, Personal Representative on Behalf of the Estate of SHAMARRA SCOTT, an individual,

Respondent,

V.

CITY OF TACOMA, a municipal corporation; WADE and JANE DOE WHITE a marital community,

Petitioners.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

There is a *question of fact* in this case as to whether Shamarra incurred head trauma from the collision. 12 Dr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Ophthalmologist Dr. Myers-Powell also testified that patients with head traumas could develop Uveitis, Sarcoidosis of the eye. CP 315.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> As noted *supra*, the collision caused Shamarra to lose consciousness when the airbag deployed. She had had headaches

Overman specifically testified on a more probable than not basis that Shamarra's head trauma resulted in Sarcoidosis in the eye area. CP 724, 1352-57. Dr. Myers-Powell agreed. CP 314-15. Dr. Overman testified to the significance of the head trauma and ocular jarring Shamarra experience in the collision. CP 1354-58.

In sum, the basic principle that a trauma from an impactful event like an automobile collision, and the attendant air bag deployment and ocular jarring could light up an auto immune disorder like Sarcoidosis is well-established in the scientific community, particularly given the undisputed fact the Sarcoidosis resulted in Shamarra's blindness in one eye.

<u>Differential Diagnosis Is Well-Accepted in the Scientific</u>

<u>Community.</u> Dr. Overman's opinion resulted from a differential diagnosis, a well-regarded diagnostic technique. *Anderson*, 172

Wn.2d at 610. In *Desranleau*, the expert's testimony was based upon a differential diagnosis after considering the Hill criteria, a

and needed eye treatment for blindness in one eye.

Answer to Petition for Review - 15

generally accepted methodology for determining causation in the scientific community, 26 Wn. App. 2d at 435, as was Dr. Overman's opinion.

Numerous other cases have held that a differential diagnosis methodology is entirely appropriate in the *Frye* context. *In re Morris*, 189 Wn. App. 484, 494-95, 355 P.3d 355 (2015) (differential diagnosis is a "well-recognized and reliable" methodology); *Advanced Health Care*, *Inc v. Guscott*, 173 Wn. App. 857, 873, 295 P.3d 816 (2013) (court reverses exclusion of expert testimony, holding that differential diagnosis was appropriate methodology; *Frye* was not implicated); *Donegan v. Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1 of Grant Cnty.*, \_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_, 2023 WL 6996302 (2023) (reversing exclusion of expert testimony derived from differential diagnosis).

The City labors to contend that Dr. Overman's scientific methodology is not scientifically accepted, but that argument glides over the facts in the case and flies in the face of authority that a qualified expert with the extensive professional and

clinical expertise of Dr. Overman is on solid ground in applying an accepted scientific principle to the particular facts in a case by the differential diagnosis methodology utilizing the Hill factors. This Court in *Anderson* specifically indicated that the differential diagnosis methodology to rule out other explanations for causation was a valid scientific methodology. It is telling that the City fails to cite a *single* case holding that a differential diagnosis based on the Hill criteria is not an accepted scientific methodology.

Dr. Overman's opinion, based on *decades* of professional experience in autoimmunology and *years* of clinical experience, applying the Hill factors, explained how the traumatic collision was the cause of Shamarra's dormant Sarcoidosis lighting up. Dr. Overman ruled out other explanations for why a dormant autoimmune condition became so symptomatic that it resulted in the blindness in Shamarra's eye. The City cannot, and does not, contend that Dr. Overman somehow misapplied a differential diagnosis, or that he erred in analyzing the Hill criteria.

In sum, Division II's opinion on *Frye* was correct under Washington law.

#### (b) ER 702

Dr. Overman's opinion testimony also satisfies ER 702, as Division II concluded. Op. at 16-17. This Court has since State v. Allery, 101 Wn.2d 591, 596, 682 P.2d 312 (1984), employed a three-part test to determine if expert testimony is admissible: (1) is the witness qualified to testify as an expert? (2) is the expert's theory based on a theory generally accepted in the scientific community? and (3) would the testimony be helpful to the trier of fact? This Court's ER 702-705 cases on expert testimony generally express a liberal policy favoring the admissibility of such testimony. 5B Karl B. Tegland, Wash. Practice Evidence (5th ed.) at 39 (a reasoned evaluation of the facts is often impossible without the application of scientific, technical, or specialized knowledge). 13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See, e.g., Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga, 181 Wn.2d 346, 333 P.3d 388 (2014) (expert testimony on biomechanical

Dr. Overman's testimony satisfied the *Allery* elements. Clearly, Dr. Overman was qualified, as noted *supra*.

Further, his opinion was accepted in the scientific community. The analysis of this ER 702 element is different than the *Frye* process because it focuses not on the principles and methodology of the scientific issue, but rather addresses the factual basis for the expert's testimony. *Desranleau*, 26 Wn. App. 2d at 433. Here, Dr. Overman's opinion, expressed on the necessary more-probable-than-not basis, was amply supported factually and was not merely conclusory. Dr. Overman's declarations and deposition testimony documented with particularity the factual predicate for his opinion, CP 723-69, 1334-1654, just as did the expert in *Reese v. Stroh*, 128 Wn.2d

\_

forces admissible); Frausto v. Yakima HMA, LLC, 188 Wn.2d 227, 242-43, 393 P.3d 776 (2017) (trial court abused its discretion in categorically excluding the expert testimony of an advanced registered nurse practitioner on proximate cause a medical negligence case); L.M., supra (trial court properly admitted testimony of biomechanical engineer on the natural forces of labor in a malpractice claim against a midwife).

300, 304, 907 P.2d 282 (1995) (absence of statistical studies did not defeat expert opinion).

Finally, contrary to the City's argument, pet. at 21, expert testimony will assist a jury. The topic of Sarcoidosis and its effects is not an easy one, as the trial court acknowledged, CP 1792, but the trial court did not address whether the jury would not be assisted by expert testimony. CP 1789-93. That was error.

Expert testimony on the causal links between the collision, Shamarra's medical treatment, and her ultimate unfortunate death were not matters within the common knowledge of jurors; they would benefit from Dr. Overman's knowledge. In a case involving the causal connection between mold and a plaintiff's Sarcoidosis, Division I observed:

An ordinary lay person may not be familiar with sarcoidosis; indeed, an ordinary lay person may never have heard of sarcoidosis. There is no connection obvious to a lay person between mold exposure and sarcoidosis. Thus, an expert must establish that link. Otherwise, the jury would be left to speculate as to the possible causes of sarcoidosis. This is impermissible under Washington law. We hold that expert testimony is required to establish

that Bolson's sarcoidosis was more likely than not caused by her workplace exposure to mold.

*Bolson*, *supra* at \*5.

In sum, Dr. Overman's opinion was admissible under ER 702 as interpreted in *Allery*.

(2) <u>Division II Correctly Determined that Causation Is</u>
<a href="mailto:a Question of Fact under Washington Law">a Question of Fact under Washington Law</a>, Not
<a href="mailto:Susceptible to Resolution on Summary Judgment">Susceptible to Resolution on Summary Judgment</a>

In granting summary judgment, the trial court decided causation as a matter of law after excluding the Rai/Overman testimony. CP 1935-36. That was error, as Division II concluded. Op. at 18.

When the trial court improperly excluded Dr. Overman's expert testimony, its summary judgment decision on causation as a matter of law could not stand. Dr. Overman's testimony and that of the Estate's other treating physicians or experts established a question of fact on "but for" causation. Dr.

When expert opinions come to differing conclusions on a key issue, this Court has held that this creates a genuine issue of fact for the jury. Op. at 18. See Strauss v. Premera Blue

Overman's report stated that on a more probable than not basis, the activation of Shamarra's Sarcoidosis, the spinal compression fractures, the spinal fusion surgery, subsequent complications, Guillain-Barre syndrome, and her death—were due to the October 14, 2015 collision. CP 762-64, 1357-59. Dr. Overman also stated that but for the collision the chronology of Shamarra's symptoms and conditions would not have happened, and she would be alive today. CP 764-65. He gave all these opinions on a more-probable-than-not basis and to a reasonable degree of

Cross, 194 Wn.2d 296, 301, 449 P.3d 640 (2019) ("Generally speaking, expert opinion on an ultimate question of fact is sufficient to establish a triable issue and defeat summary judgment."). See also, Chen v. City of Seattle, 153 Wn. App. 890, 900, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009), review denied, 169 Wn.2d 1003 (2010); Bowers v. Marzano, 170 Wn. App. 498, 290 P.3d 134 (2012) (experts in disagreement on cause of auto crash); Advanced Health Care, Inc., supra (differing opinions in medical negligence action as to cause of patient's injury); C.L. v. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 200 Wn. App. 189, 200, 402 P.3d 346 (2017), review denied, 192 Wn.2d 1023 (2019) ("In general, when experts offer competing, apparently competent evidence, summary judgment is inappropriate."); Leahy v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 3 Wn. App. 2d 613, 633, 418 P.3d 175 (2018).

medical certainty. CP 724, 742.

Division II's opinion, op. at 18, correctly applies this Court's decisions on causation. Proximate cause in Washington has two elements: legal cause and cause-in-fact. *Hartley v. State*, 103 Wn.2d 768, 777, 698 P.2d 77 (1985). "Cause in fact" refers to the actual, "but for," cause of the injury, *i.e.*, "but for" the defendant's actions the plaintiff would not be injured. *Id.* In Washington, proximate cause is classically a *question of fact*, *Michaels v. CH2M Hill, Inc.*, 171 Wn.2d 587, 611, 257 P.3d 532 (2011). Simply because the facts in the case as to the connection between a liability-inducing event and the plaintiff's harm are part of an extended casual chain of events, that does not deprive the jury of its proper constitutional role.

## (a) "But For" Causation

Consistent with the view that proximate cause is a fact issue, this Court made clear that proximate cause is for a jury even where the cause and the attendant harm to the plaintiff are attenuated. *Joyce v. Dep't of Corrections*, 155 Wn.2d 306, 119

P.3d 82 (2005) (offender on community supervision stole a car and rammed it into plaintiff's vehicle); *Meyers v. Ferndale Sch. Dist.*, 197 Wn.2d 281, 289-90, 481 P.3d 1084 (2021) (teacher took his class on an impromptu walking excursion and a driver fell asleep, plowing into the students, killing two).

A plaintiff need not prove cause in fact to an absolute certainty. *Gardner v. Seymour*, 27 Wn.2d 802, 808, 180 P.2d 564 (1947). It is sufficient if the plaintiff presents evidence that "allow[s] a reasonable person to conclude that the harm more probably than not happened in such a way that the moving party should be held liable." *Little v. Countrywood Homes, Inc.*, 132 Wn. App. 777, 781, 133 P.3d 944, *review denied*, 158 Wn.2d 1017 (2006). The Estate did that here.

Most specifically for this case, a defendant like the City had to take Shamarra as she was, the so-called "eggshell" phenomenon. *Lindquist v. Degel*, 92 Wn.2d 257, 262, 595 P.2d 934 (1979) (citing *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 457 (1965)). It is "well-settled law that a tortfeasor takes his victim as he finds

him." *Michelbrink v. State*, 191 Wn. App. 414, 429, 363 P.3d 6 (2015). *See also, Jordan v. City of Seattle*, 30 Wash. 298, 302, 70 Pac. 743 (1902); *Reeder v. Sears, Roebuck & Co.*, 41 Wn.2d 550, 556, 250 P.2d 518 (1952); WPI 30.18.01.

Moreover, Washington law has *long* recognized, particularly in the industrial insurance setting, that a traumatic event may "light up" a plaintiff's pre-existing latent or quiescent infirmity or disease. When that occurs, the resulting disability is attributable to the traumatic injury and not the pre-existing condition. *Zavala v. Twin City Foods*, 185 Wn. App. 838, 860, 343 P.3d 761 (2015). *See* WPI 30.18, 155.20.

The City *concedes* that Division II correctly applied the law on "but for" causation, when it opted not to address the issue in its petition. Pet. at 22-27.

# (b) <u>Legal Causation</u>

Given the City's concession on "but for" causation, it turns to a last ditch assertion that legal causation bars the Estate's

action. Pet. at 22-27.<sup>15</sup> In doing so, it fails to cite the myriad of this Court's recent decisions *rejecting* the application of that doctrine. *See generally, Meyers, supra* (legal causation rejected as to student killed while on unapproved off-campus excursion when driver fell asleep and ran into him); *N.L. v. Bethel School Dist.*, 186 Wn.2d 422, 378 P.3d 162 (2016) (rejecting legal causation as to off-campus rape); *Wuthrich v. King County*, 185 Wn.2d 19, 366 P.3d 926 (2016) (rejecting legal causation as to roadway collision accident caused by obscuring vegetation);

The City ignores this Court's holding in *Lowman v*. *Wilbur*, 178 Wn.2d 165, 309 P.3d 387 (2013), on legal causation. There, in rejecting application of the doctrine yet again, this Court noted the connection between duty and legal causation. *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The City did not preserve this issue for appellate review. The trial court ruled against it on legal causation, CP 1871, 1936, a fact the City deliberately fails to note. The City did not seek cross-review specifically on this issue. *See Modumetal, Inc. v. Xtalic Corp.*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 810, 834-37, 425 P.3d 871 (2018) (discussing need for notice of cross-appeal to preserve issue for appellate review).

at 171 ("...the policy considerations that support imposition of a duty will often compel the recognition of legal causation, so long as cause-in-fact is established under the relevant facts."). The City owed Shamarra a duty. Similarly, if "but for" causation is met, legal causation is not an issue. *Id.* ("If Lowman's injuries were in fact caused by the placement of the utility pole too close to the roadway, then they cannot be deemed too remote for purposes of legal causation."). As noted *supra*, "but for" causation is established here as well.

The City asserts that Shamarra's injuries were unforeseeable, citing *McKown v. Simon Property Group, Inc.*, 182 Wn.2d 752, 344 P.3d 661 (2015), pet. at 25, but that case on foreseeability does not help it. The City deliberately neglects to mention that this Court has held that foreseeability is a *question of fact for the jury. N.L.*, 186 Wn.2d at 435-36. 16

Without saying as much, pet. at 25-26, the City makes a superseding or intervening cause argument it never made in the trial court. In any event, superseding cause is a *fact issue* for the jury, foreclosing its resolution on summary judgment here.

The City's contentions on causation do not detract from the point that the City took Shamarra as it found her when its negligence injured her and the various links in the causal chain are for the jury to assess.<sup>17</sup>

In sum, the City's legal causation argument was not properly before Division II, but even if it were, it is meritless and review is not merited under this Court's well-established precedents like *Lowman*, *N.L.*, *Wuthrich*, and *Meyers*.

#### D. CONCLUSION

The trial court erred in excluding Dr. Overman's expert testimony and, because a question of fact was present on causation, summary judgment in this wrongful death action was erroneous. The City has failed to show why review under RAP

*Sluman v. State*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 656, 702, 418 P.3d 125 (2016), *review denied*, 192 Wn.2d 1005 (2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The answer to the City's "concern" that a driver can be held liable for subsequent injury, medical conditions, or death of others involved in an accident, pet. at 26, is that the well-established eggshell plaintiff rule discussed *supra* that it ignores must be applied.

13.4(b) of Division II's unpublished opinion is merited. This Court should deny review.

This document contains 4,920 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.